THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2019-001838

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-In-Equity Court Judge

APPELLANT FINAL BRIEF

Alluette Jones, Appellant,

v.

Mikell R. Scarborough, NBSC/SYNOVOUS BANK,
Judge DANIEL MARTIN JR, CASDELL SINGELTON,
Representative Andrew Sullivan/ Tim Domin
SRP 2011-6 LLC and others

I Am: 

Authorized Representative
Alluette Jones, Appellant
142 Coming Street
Charleston SC, 29403
(843) 813-1910

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGEMENT OF FORCLOSURE WITHOUT SUFFICIENT VALIDATING EVIDENCE?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATE MY CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATE MY CIVIL RIGHTS BY ACTING UNDER AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION UPON AN ERROR OF LAW?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT HAVE JURISDICTION?

**Statement of Facts
Necessary to Understanding Appeal Issues Presented**

On May 10th 2018 I was allegedly personally served with Summons and Complaint Stated in Affidavit Filed May 11th 2018; The following Affidavit is false for the following reasons On May 10th a Fire Was Started in My home on 142 comings Street in which the Police and the Fire Department responded Due to a phone call around 5pm we left because the Smoke and My daughters Mental Health. I Left my Residents for that entire day as you will see in Attachments I Checked my Daughter into MUSC around 6pm where I remained with my Daughter until I left around 6:05 pm.

On May 10th after leaving the Hospital I headed for West Cott Plantation where I remained until the following day. Note the Affidavit States I was served personally at 7:12 pm but video of the incident and other documents will show that no one was in my home at 7:12pm this raises issues at law Pursuant to Rule 4(d), the summons and complaint must be served together. Otherwise, the civil action is not commenced. See Rule 3, SCRPC.

On July 17th 2018 an Affidavit of Default, Affidavit of Nonmilitary Service, Filing Fees and Certificate of exemption from Administrative Order 2011-05-02-01 was Filed in the Court of common Pleas Under Case Number 2018-CP-10-02344.

On July 24th A Default Order was not filed at this time I was not served with Summons and Complaint nor had any Knowledge as to my rights to prevention of foreclosure.

On July 30th 2018 Order/Referred to Master or Special Referee was filed in which I had not been Noticed nor Consented to its stipulation due to the lack of Service; this caused irregularities and errors in law because the Plaintiff(s) had not met their Burden of personal Jurisdiction over me.

On January 10th 2019 Notice/Notice of Foreclosure Hearing & CRT/Mailing was filed I Alluette Karen Jones Never received the Notices.

On February 12th Foreclosure Hearing was Held, February 26th 2019, Wavier/Wavier of Deficiency Judgment and Masters Order & Judgment of Foreclosure & Sale I had no knowledge of these actions until after they had commenced.

On March 21st 2019 Certificate of mailing was filed

On March 28 2019 **Masters Order to Correct TMS Number Nunc Pro Tunc, srv**

On July 31, 2019 Certificate of Mailing was filed

On August 6th 2019 Filed Chapter 13 Bankruptcy On October 11th 2019 filed Defnt Motion/Request for Emergency Hearing on rule 60 (b) (4); This filing came about when due to the plaintiff(s) Lack of proper Service according to Rule 4 SCRPC No Jurisdiction The only reason I had entered the court at this time is to show proof that the Affidavit was not true due to the fire I was not in my home at the time the servicer stated 7:12pm. Mikell R. Scarborough refused to look at the evidence that I had provided on video Showing my Friend Fred Whaley was the only one at my home around 6:30 in which he left before 7:12 Pm leaving no one at 142 coming street he further went on to deny my rights saying I had waved them Under Rule 60(b)(4), relief where a judgment is void is non-discretionary and a matter of right. Richardson Construction Co. v. Meck Engineering & Construction Co., 274 S.C. 307, 262 S.E.2d 913 (1980). Citing Coleman v. Dunlap, 306 S.C. 491, 494-95, 413 S.E.2d 15, 17 (1992). "An abuse of discretion arises where the trial judge was controlled by an error of law or where his order is based on factual conclusions that are without evidentiary support.

On October 15th 2019 I filed Notice of Appealing Order from Judge Scarbourough I resubmitted The Rule 60 (b) (4) hearing to Circuit Court Demanding a Jury Trial in which I showed up to the hearing date Under Judge Buckner But he did no hear it only telling us to Refile it with the clerk to correct the docketing error which was ignored then allegedly denied by Mikell R. Scarborough On October 25th 2019 without Good cause. Note the date set for the resubmission of Rule 60 (b) (4) was in October.

On July 29th 2020 Motion to lift Automatic Stay was granted Plaintiff(s) asserted that the Loan

was not a federal Loan but from a private lender. Further Loan was made with South Carolina National Bank (NBSC).

On July 31, 2020 filed Notice of Appealing Order from July 29th 2020

On September 2nd Filed a Motion and demand for Jury Trial for issues in law 27 – 37 -80 to contest the eviction Master IN Equity and Plaintiff(s) have Jurisdiction due to several issues in law with the Circuit Court.

On September 8th Motion under Statute 27-37-80 Jury Trial was denied By Master IN Equity even though this action was filed in Circuit court dealing with a Jury Trial for determining rights under Law UTPA SECTION 39-5-20.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I Alluette K. Jones Petitioner never received any notice of the Order of Reference or seen evidence of it Filed in this Case with my consent. There is no proof of me consenting to the Master IN Equity nor waving my rights to a Jury trial further because I was not served I was not properly Noticed which is in fact what caused multiple irregularities in this case one being lack of personal Jurisdiction. Further I did not see the order of reference so I did not know the Master IN Equity would make the final Judgment.

Affidavit Filed Stating Personal Service is false for several proven reasons and I am contesting it validity.

1. I was not home at the time mentioned in the affidavit see above.
2. Affidavit is not within the Law, Supporting or opposing affidavits “must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be admissible in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e)(1).

The mere signing of a statement in the presence of a notary, or a notary’s placement of an “acknowledgment” on a statement, does not constitute a sworn statement or affidavit. In Orsi v. Kirkwood, 999 F.2d 86, 91 (4th Cir. 1993

3. The master has no power or authority except that which is given to him by the order of reference. See Rule 53(c), SCRPC (“[T]he order of reference to the master may specify or limit his powers and may direct him ... to do or perform a particular act...”); Bonney v. Granger, 292 S.C. 308, 356 S.E.2d 138 (Ct.App.1987) (a master has the same powers as a circuit judge unless the order of reference specifies or limits his powers); 76 C.J.S. References § 76 (1952) (a referee has no powers except those conferred by the order of reference).

4. No such consent exist Notice Citing: TRYON FED. SAVINGS LOAN VS. PHLEPS “A master may enter a final judgment without further order of the court if either the parties consent in writing, or the order of reference so provides. Rule 53(e)(1), S.C.R. Civ. P. Although the order may be appropriate, it is fundamental that no judgment or order affecting the rights of a party to the cause shall be made or rendered without notice to the party whose rights are affected. *Insurance Co. of North America v. Hyatt*, 290 S.C. 159, 348 S.E.2d 532 (1986). If the judgment or order is taken without notice, the absent party may rightly ignore it and assume that no court will enforce it against his person. *Insurance Co. of North America v. Hyatt*, *supra* [citing *Koester v. Citizens' Publishing Co.*, 154 S.C. 154, 151 S.E. 452 (1930)].
5. On October of 2019 a Suit was filed in the District Court of South Carolina with a Lis Pendens giving constructive Notice to all parties. I told the judge of my objection to his exercise of Jurisdiction S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-803 my only valid contact with the courts was to contest the action based on lack of jurisdiction.
6. Note: Master IN Equity never issued a Rule to Show Cause hearing senate bill 702 the plaintiff had a duty to disclose information, rule 401 states that relevant evidence is the standard and SCRPC Rule 603 all Testimony must be took under Oath. This is what bring into view the Void order for lack of Jurisdiction of my person.

FACTS

1. State of South Carolina Senate Bill 702 specifically states The Servicer, SRP 2011-6 LLC, *MBS/SYNOVOUS BANK and its representatives* owes the homeowner a duty of utmost care, honesty, loyalty and full disclosure of all material facts: also see Rule 26 of the Federal Civil Procedure. A form of practice may not defeat a federal right. *Brown v. Western Ry. of Ala.*, 338 U.S. 294, 70 S. Ct. 105, 94 L. Ed. 100 (1949). I have been denied my right to available remedies in state court because they refuse to review relevant evidence FRCP 401.
2. I was not personally served or told about the Mediation process. Mikell R. Scarborough has ordered the fraudulent sale of my property violating my Civil Liberties without a proper investigation of the evidence therefore any rulings, orders and judgements are void Ab Initio. And that inevitably leads to questions of who owes what? Who is the true holder is in due course? Merely having paperwork

doesn't mean you have a legitimate claim or the right to foreclose 3. SRP 2011-6 LLC, *MBS/SYNOVOUS BANK and its representatives* never proved this after I Allutte Jones Contested the Jurisdiction and the Affidavit to obtain the material facts and other supportive evidence showing where the Court Jurisdiction came from did, SRP 2011-6 LLC actually have personal Jurisdiction without serving the Summons and complaint personally to I Alluette Jonse.

3. Using false or fraudulent evidence involves a corruption United States v. Agurs , see also Miller v. Pate, Darden v. Wainwright Improper Argument and Manipulation or misstatement of evidence violates due process). Cf. Mesarosh v. United States. SRP 2011-6 LLC, *MBS/SYNOVOUS BANK and its representatives* have no valid claim. The fraud and deprivation of my constitutional rights by, abuse of discretion and negligence to follow the proper procedural Due process. I have a claim to sue the bond of Mikell R. Scarborough., and also SRP 2011-6 LLC, *MBS/SYNOVOUS BANK and its representatives* for engaging in unprofessional Conduct fraud and wrongful Foreclosure. If the lawsuit is based upon a loan you must allege that the loan was made. If their action is based upon acquisition of the loan you still must allege that the loan was made and that they actually paid for acquisition of the loan. Otherwise the claim is speculative, fraudulent and cannot invoke the jurisdiction of the Court. Without that the second requirement it is impossible to meet — that you have suffered damages as a result of the making the loan and the borrower not repaying it. These are not mere empty recitals. Without them, no lawsuit can continue. The basis for a trial in which the evidence would be presented would be the Complaint. If the Complaint requires that ownership of a real loan be present at the time the Complaint is filed then the Court's jurisdiction has never been invoked. The Court has no choice as it is plain on its face that there has been a deprivation of my rights and civil liberties. And the reason for this is that it is very well-settled that you bring a matter to court that must be an actual controversy and a plea for relief that can be legally granted. Article 1 section 23 of the state constitution is mandatory furthermore did they indeed have a personal financial injury? It is irrefragable that the constitutions protects my right to Due process before my property could be claimed See SWEEZER v. GREEN, 360 Mo. 1249 (Mo. 1950).

Proper Service requires personal service. See State v. Sullivan 127 S.C. BB&T v. Taylor An act is willful if done voluntary and intentionally with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; with bad purpose either to disobey or disregard the law Wilson v. Walker furthermore, the person providing the service, upon information and belief, is not the sheriff or his deputy or any other duly constituted law enforcement officer, My action are out of necessity and not disregard. This is not only an injury to me and my family but to the public.

“The court is to protect against any encroachment of constitutionally secured liberties.” Frost v. Railroad Commission of California, 271 U.S. 583. Due Process

must be invoked before removing rights secured under the constitutions, Citing *State v. Earle*, 44 S.E. 781 (S.C. 1903) Supreme Court of South Carolina. These principles are recognized and followed by the Supreme Court of the United States. In *Turpin v. Lemon*, 25 Sup. Ct. Rep., 20, the Court quotes with approval the following definition of due process of law found in *Hagar v. Reclamation Dist.*, 111 U.S. 701: "It is sufficient to observe here that by 'due process' is meant one which, following the forms of law, is appropriate to the case, and just to the parties to be affected. It must be pursued in the ordinary mode prescribed by the law; it must be adapted to the end to be attained; and whenever it is necessary for the protection of the parties, it must give them an opportunity to be heard respecting the justice of judgment sought. The clause in question means, therefore, that there can be no proceeding against life, liberty or property which may result in the deprivation of either, without the observances of those general rules established in our system of jurisprudence for the security of private rights.

I Allutte Jones Am Contesting the Affidavit by authority of Rule 56(e)(1), FRCP Constitutional requirements of due process apply to garnishment and prejudgment attachment procedures whenever state officers act jointly with a private creditor in securing the property in dispute. *Sniadach v. Family Finance corp.*

4. The U.S. Supreme Court has apparently never retreated, from the precedent and merits set in federal rules of civil procedure 4 D this means that this issue was decided years ago, it is the law of the land and it overrides any state court that would rule otherwise.
5. In order to establish standing, three elements must be established. First, the party must have suffered an injury in fact---an invasion of a legally protected interest which is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical. Second, there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of---the injury has to be fairly traceable to the challenged action of the adverse party and not the result of independent action of some third party not before the court. Third, it must be likely as opposed to merely speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. See *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 112 S.Ct. 2130, 2136, 119 L.Ed.2d 351 (1992); *Chambers Medical Technologies of*
6. An abuse of process and malicious prosecution by SRP 2011-6 LLC, *MBS/SYNOVOUS BANK*, its representatives and Judge Mikell R. Scarborough Charleston County Clerk of Court, The Trier of Fact, And the Trier of the Case willfully filed an alleged civil action in conspiracy with an agent for alleged "Plaintiff", with no valid Affidavit or evidence to support the claim is clear "Fraud by the Court" and its officials which is unlawful and void. The Plaintiff cannot meet the

requirements to establish Standing, and did not take an oath according to Rule 603 of the federal civil procedure and South Carolina Civil procedure Rule 30. Therefore the Affiant has not entered any valid testimony or factual injury. Judge is charged to know without Full Due process of law, evidence or factual testimony in connection to the alleged claim the court order is void. And is a violation of I Alluette_Karen Jones Civil and personal Liberties.

7. I Alluette_Karen Jones Object to the Testimony without Discovery and a proper investigation, Notice, Service and Judicial review Article 1 Section 22 SC CON, Further Though I am not an Attorney I have in the past had Valid pleadings and notices to show the plaintiff's representation which were ignored by the Master IN Equity. See. Boag vs Mcdougall.
8. I found fraud in the instruments called Contract it does not identify a valid debt by its own written testimony states the plaintiff gave credit which is not money or valid to satisfy a contract. No one has yet produced an evidence of Moneta being exchanged that has obligated me. I have on occasions produced Notices of my concerns and desires about not getting a valid Discovery. I have found through research and study That Mers Was the assigner which is clear fraud.
9. SC Con Article 1 Section 3 the privileges and immunities of citizens of this State and of the United States under this Constitution shall not be abridged, nor shall any person be deprived of life, liberty, or property without due process of law, nor shall any person be denied the equal protection of the laws. (1970 (56) 2684; 1971 (57) 315.)
10. Where a party submits an affidavit to the court that contains information inconsistent with the party's prior deposition testimony or other sworn submission, courts hold that these contradictory affidavits should be disregarded as "shams" or "competing affidavits." See Margo v. Weiss, 213 F.3d 55, 63 (2nd Cir. 2000); Rohrbough v. Wyeth Labs. Inc., 916 F.2d 970, 976 (4th Cir. 1990); Martin v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 851 F.2d 703, 705 (3rd Cir. 1988). C Further a federal and State agency cannot in manner through administrative convenience adopts a regulation or through nonfeasance permits under the color of State and federal law inferior authorities to deny my secured Constitutional rights or ignores Congress' intent.

Furthermore Harlow v. Fitzgerald (points) inter alia= among other things. Executive officials in general are usually entitled to only qualified or good faith immunity. Such immunity is not available if the official asserting the defense took the action with malicious intention to cause a deprivation of

constitutional rights or other injury see Wood v. Strickland.

The U.S. and State Supreme Court has apparently never retreated, from the precedent and merits set in the South Carolina Supreme and Appeals court Cases *See, e.g., Franklin Credit Mgmt. Corp. v. Nicholas*, 73 Conn.App. 830, 812 A.2d 51, 57-58 (2002) ("In a mortgage foreclosure action, to make out its prima facie case, the foreclosing party had to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that it was the owner of the note and mortgage and that the [defendant] had defaulted on the note.") (internal quotations omitted) (internal citations omitted); *Campaign v. Barba*, 23 A.D.3d 327, 805 N.Y.S.2d 86, 86 (N.Y.App.Div. 2005) ("To establish a prima facie case in an action to foreclose a mortgage, the plaintiff must establish the existence of the mortgage and mortgage note, ownership of the mortgage, and the defendant's default in payment."); *In re Foreclosure of Real Prop, for \$143,600.00*, 156 N.C.App. 477, 577 S.E.2d 398, 406 (2003) ("In a foreclosure proceeding, the lender bears the burden of proving that there was a valid debt, default, right to foreclose under power of sale, and notice."); 55 Am. Jur. 2d *Mortgages* § 604 ("[T]he burden of proof of any particular issue rests upon the party asserting the affirmative of that issue under the pleadings."); *cf. Paramount Fund, Inc. v. Cusaac*, 282 S.C. 497, 499, 319 S.E.2d 354, 355 (Ct.App. 1984) (holding the mortgagee has the burden of proving a disputed mortgage by the preponderance of the evidence).

Injury:

Due to the above mentioned facts the failure of the court to recognize that they must apply the rules and laws that apply resulted not only in no personal Jurisdiction, the wrongful foreclosure of my property, but the foreclosure of my ability to negotiate a settlement with an undisclosed equitable creditor, or with the alleged legal owner of the loan in the property records. We have suffered extreme mental anguish further including but not limited to doctor visits and extreme migraines caused by a smoke do to the stress and the fire on the alleged day of Service. We have also suffered from Slander Mikell R. Scarborough has caused my home to be listed for sale, by color of law. And my family and I have undergone tremendous stress and tension by the defendants fraudulent actions and negligent practices.

Relief

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