THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

OCT 21 2020

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

Mikell Scarborough  
Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2019-001838

SRP 2011-6, LLC..... Respondent,

v.

Alluette K. Jones, South Carolina Federal Credit Union,  
Synovus Bank, and Historic Charleston Foundation.....Defendants,

Of whom Alluette K. Jones is the.....Appellant.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

Andrew M. Sullivan  
SC Bar No.: 100464  
Clawson and Staubes, LLC  
1612 Marion Street, Suite 200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
(800) 774-8242

*Attorneys for Respondent*

**

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

because the Appellant personally availed herself of the jurisdiction of the trial court when she voluntarily appeared at the final judgment foreclosure hearing on February 12, 2019. (Transcript 2/12/19 Hearing, pp. 1-9, R. \_\_\_\_\_).

It is well established by this Court, and by the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, that the voluntary appearance by a defendant constitutes personal service. *See* Rule 4(d), SCRC. “Although a court commonly obtains personal jurisdiction by the service of the summons and complaint, it may also obtain personal jurisdiction if the defendant makes a voluntary appearance.” *Stearns Bank Nat’l Ass’n v. Glenwood Falls, LP*, 373 S.C. 331, 337, 644 S.E.2d 793, 796 (Ct.App.2007); *see also S.C. Dep’t of Social Services ex rel. Roseboro v. Burris*, 297 S.C. 537, 377 S.E.2d 578 (1989) (A father’s “voluntary appearance was equivalent to personal service, vesting the Family Court with jurisdiction). “A defendant may waive any complaints he may have regarding personal jurisdiction by failing to object to the lack of personal jurisdiction and by appearing to defend his case.” *State v. Dudley*, 354 S.C. 514, 542, 581 S.E.2d 171, 186 (Ct. App.2003). Objections to personal jurisdiction are waived unless raised. *See Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 630, 576 S.E.2d 156,165 (2003). Additionally, failure to timely assert improper service waives any issue regarding its validity. *Garner v. Houck*, 312 S.C. 481, 435 S.E.2d 847 (1993).

At no point in the February 12, 2019 hearing did Appellant ever raise service of process as an issue, question the Court’s jurisdiction over the matter, or mention any other perceived violation of law. (Transcript 2/12/19, pp. 1-9, R. \_\_\_\_\_). To the contrary, Appellant acknowledged having been aware of the lawsuit, did not deny the default, and acknowledged having been in contact with the Respondent and/or its counsel. (*Id.*, pp. 3-6, 8-9, R. \_\_\_\_\_). Appellant simply wanted additional time from the Master in Equity to settle a pending personal injury lawsuit and/or sell a

parcel of property she believed would be sufficient to either reinstate or payoff the Respondent's mortgage loan as she had done before in a prior foreclosure action between the Appellant and Respondent. (*Id.*, pp. 3-6, 8-9, R. \_\_\_\_). The Master in Equity afforded Appellant the additional time sought.

Having been involved in prior foreclosure proceedings alone should have been enough for Appellant to have a basic understanding and familiarity with the legal process. "A *pro se* litigant who knowingly elects to represent himself assumes full responsibility for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law." *State v. Burton*, 356 S.C. 259, 265, n. 5, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9 n. 5 (2003). In South Carolina Courts a *pro se* litigant is held to the same standard as an attorney. See *State v. Hollman*, 232 S.C. 489, 498, 102 S.E.2d 873, 877 (1958). It is critically important to note that the Appellant never raised an issue regarding the alleged defective service of process or challenge the jurisdiction of the Master in Equity from the February 12, 2019 foreclosure hearing to October 11, 2019. If in fact she was aggrieved, as alleged, Appellant never provided justification or a legitimate reason for failing to raise the issues at an earlier. Instead, she waited for nine (9) months to pass, filed multiple frivolous bankruptcy cases, and then made a desperation emergency motion to the Master in Equity just a few days before her house was sold.

The law is clear, at a minimum, the trial court was vested of personal jurisdiction over the Appellant the moment she voluntarily appeared at the final judgment default hearing on February 12, 2019. By failing to object to personal jurisdiction at that hearing or raising issues regarding service of process, any future objection to the same was waived by the Appellant. See *Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 630, 576 S.E.2d 156,165 (2003); see also *Garner v. Houck*, 312 S.C. 481, 435 S.E.2d 847 (1993).

**C. Appellant failed to appeal the Master in Equity’s Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale and the unappealed ruling is the law of the case which requires affirmance by this Court.**

As set forth above, there is no dispute that the Appellant appeared at the final judgment default foreclosure hearing on February 12, 2019 and acknowledged that she was aware of the lawsuit, and had been in contact with Respondent and its counsel, etc. (Transcript 2/12/19 Hearing, pp. 7, R. \_\_\_\_). Appellant received a copy of the proposed Order of Foreclosure and Record of Hearing at the February 12, 2019 hearing and Appellant was unquestionably notified of the Master in Equity’s order and intent to sell the property at the May 7, 2019 judicial foreclosure sale. (*Id.*, pp.9, R. \_\_\_\_). Subsequently, Appellant was duly served on March 19, 2019 with the Order of Foreclosure at the property address which Appellant undisputedly resided and no appeal of that order was ever filed. (Cert. of Mailing filed \_\_\_\_, R. \_\_\_\_).

“The doctrine of the law of the case applies to an order or ruling which finally determines a substantial right.” *Weil v. Weil*, 299 S.C. 84, 89, 382 S.E.2d 471, 473 (Ct. App. 1989) (quoting, in part, 21 C.J.S. Courts Section 195 at 335 (1940)). “An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013). “Under the law of the case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court.” *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (S.C. 2009); see also *Buckner v. Preferred Mut. Ins. Co.*, 255 S.C. 159, 160-161, 177 S.E.2d 544 (S.C. 1970) (holding that an unappealed ruling, whether right or wrong, is the law of the case).

By being present at the February 12, 2019 hearing and subsequently failing to appeal the Order of Foreclosure, that very same order became the “law of the case” and the question, if any, regarding personal jurisdiction and service of process was effectively settled as a matter of law.

See *Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep't*, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973) (“A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for reviewing Court to grant effectual relief.”); *Byrd v. Irmo High Sch.*, 321 S.C. 426, 430, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996) (“Before any action can be maintained, there must exist a justiciable controversy.”); *Id.* at 431, 468 S.E.2d at 864 (“This Court will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy.”).

In not raising an objection to the personal jurisdiction of the trial court at the February 12, 2019 final judgment default foreclosure hearing and not filing an appeal to the Order of Foreclosure, the issue of personal jurisdiction was waived and abandoned by the Appellant. The Master in Equity appropriately and correctly found that service of process on the Appellant was proper, therein conclusively establishing and vesting the Court with personal jurisdiction over the Appellant. Accordingly, the Order of Foreclosure is the law of the case, there no longer exists a justiciable controversy regarding the issue of personal jurisdiction or otherwise, and this Court may not take up the issue on appeal as the matter is moot.

**D. This Court cannot consider Appellant’s appeal based on her motion pursuant to Rule 60, SCRPC, because Appellant failed to appeal the Master in Equity’s Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale.**

The appeal of Appellant, based on her last minute Emergency Motion pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4) filed on the eve of the judicial foreclosure sale of her property is not appropriate for consideration by this Court because the Appellant previously had an opportunity to raise the alleged jurisdiction and service of process issue (or any other alleged issue or perceived violation of law) before the trial court at hearing on February 12, 2019, or otherwise appeal the Order of Foreclosure which was served on her, and she failed to do so. A party may not invoke Rule 60,

SCRCP, where it could have pursued the issue on appeal. See *Tench v. S.C. Dep't of Educ.*, 347 S.C. 117, 121, 553 S.E.2d 451, 453 (2001). “Relief from judgment under Rule 60, SCRCP, should not be considered a substitute for appeal from a final judgment, particularly when it is clear the party seeking relief could have litigated at trial and on appeal the claims he now makes by motion.” *Smith Cos. of Greenville v. Hayes*, 311 S.C. 358, 359, 428 S.E.2d 900, 902 (Ct. App. 1993).

Appellant’s Rule 60(b) motion is nothing but an attempt to re-litigate issues that could have been raised in earlier proceedings but was not. The issues of service of process and jurisdiction of the Court over the Appellant had already been established as the “law of the case” once the Order of Foreclosure went unappealed, as argued above. Appellant would have known of the alleged jurisdictional and service of process defects well before the filing of her Emergency Motion, yet she never appealed the Order of Foreclosure.

**E. The Master in Equity had subject matter jurisdiction over the matter.**

While it does not appear entirely clear whether Appellant is specifically questioning the subject matter jurisdiction of the Master in Equity to hear and preside over the foreclosure action, to the extent that she is, subject matter jurisdiction is proper. Subject matter jurisdiction is the power of a court to hear a general class of cases, and Masters-in-Equity have power to hear foreclosure actions. See *Johnson v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole, & Pardon Servs.*, 372 S.C. 279, 284, 641 S.E.2d 895, 897 (2007) (“Stated somewhat differently, ‘subject matter jurisdiction is the power of a court to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.’” (quoting *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005))); Rule 53(b), SCRCP (“In . . . an action for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case may be referred to a master . . .”).

There is no dispute that the underlying cause of action of the Respondent is a mortgage foreclosure action involving property situated in Charleston County. Even in Appellant's disjointed and otherwise hard to follow brief, there does not appear to be any question that the subject at large concerns the foreclosure of Appellant's residence. As is customary in mortgage foreclosure actions throughout South Carolina, Respondent appropriately referred the matter to the Master in Equity for Charleston County pursuant Rule 53(b), SCRCF, to make findings of fact and conclusions of law and to enter final judgment in the matter. (Ord. of Ref., R. \_\_\_\_). The Order of Reference specifically retained jurisdiction in the Master in Equity to hear any action contesting the validity of the foreclosure action or sale or any motions pursuant to Rule 60(b), SCRCF. (*Id.*, pp. 2, R. \_\_\_\_). The Appellant never appealed nor did she otherwise move to challenge the Order of Reference. Therefore, subject matter jurisdiction is proper before the Master in Equity.

**II. APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE ALL ISSUES RAISED ON APPEAL, INCLUDING A SHOWING OF ANY ERROR IN THE MASTER IN EQUITY'S GRANTING OF THE FORECLOSURE JUDGMENT, ANY VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW, AND ANY VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S CIVIL RIGHTS.**

The Appellant has raised issues on appeal that were never raised to or otherwise ruled upon by the Master in Equity. Moreover, for the reasons set forth in the argument above, Appellant had proper notice of and failed to appeal the Order of Foreclosure which is the "law of the case." Accordingly, Appellant's arguments are not properly before this Court and should not be considered. Regardless, Appellant did not preserve her issues on appeal.

"Preserving issues for appellate review is a fundamental component of appellate practice." *Kennedy v. S. C. Ret. Sys.*, 349 S.C. 531, 532-33, 564 S.E.2d 322, 323 (2001). "It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the [master] to be preserved for appellate review. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497

S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). “[T]o preserve an issue for appellate review, a matter may not be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been both raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.” *Hill v S.C. Dep’t of Health & Envtl. Control*, 389 S.C. 1, 21, 698 S.E.2d 612, 623 (2010) (citing *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998)). “The issue must be sufficiently clear to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the judge.” *Malloy v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014) (citations omitted)). “The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “A bald assertion, without supporting argument, does not preserve an issue for appeal.” *In re McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (citing *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998)). “If [a] review of the record establishes that an issue is not preserved, then [this Court] should not reach it.” *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012).

In this instance, the Appellant filed her Emergency Motion and, when before the Court at hearing the morning of the foreclosure sale, October 15, 2019, she consented that the basis of the Emergency Motion was limited to the issue of service of process and the jurisdiction of the Master in Equity. (Transcript 10/15/19, pp. 3, 13, R. \_\_\_\_). Therefore, those were the only issues ruled upon by the Master in Equity and those are the only issues potentially capable of review by this court on appeal. Respondent again asserts that by appearing at the February 12, 2019 hearing, not raising the apparent issues of service of process and jurisdiction at that time, and not appealing Order of Foreclosure, the order is the “law of the case” and analysis or review of the question of jurisdiction and service of process is moot. See *Byrd v. Irmo High Sch.*, 321 S.C. 426, 430, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996).

In Appellant's brief, she raises for the first time a variety of issues which are, quite frankly, difficult to decipher and make sense of, including the alleged violation of constitutional and civil rights of the Appellant. More specifically, these issues run the gamut from breach of trust, wrongful foreclosure, fraud, negligence, slander, unfair practices, deprivation of constitutional rights (federal and state), abuse of process, malicious prosecution, lack of standing, evidentiary issues, etc. References are frequently made to federal law, the Federal Rules of Evidence, the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or are cases which are not applicable to this state court action. Again, these issues are either being raised for the first time on appeal or were not raised to or otherwise ruled upon by the Master in Equity. Therefore, these issues are not preserved and this Court may not reach them. See *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012).

**III. APPELLANT ABANDONED HER ISSUES ON APPEAL, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY VIOLATION OF APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS TO DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW AND CIVIL RIGHTS.**

Appellant routinely raises issues in this appeal by making only conclusory statements or arguments without providing any statutory or common law in support of her allegations; therefore, they should be considered abandoned. "Numerous cases have held that where an issue is not argued within the body of the brief but is only a short conclusory statement, it is abandoned on appeal." *Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi*, 358 S.C. 78, 99, 594 S.E.2d 485, 496 (Ct. App. 2004); see also *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct. App. 2006) (providing an issue listed in the statement of issues on appeal but not addressed in briefs is abandoned). Frivolous citations to irrelevant case law, statutes or legislation alone cannot substantiate a litigant's position; when a litigant cannot adequately support an issue that he or she raises with supporting legal authority, that issue must be considered abandoned. *Id.* Furthermore, the litigant possesses the burden to

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